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CHAPTER I

ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESEARCH IN THE MARITIMES

The earliest archaeological endeavors in the Maritime provinces
of Canada are well reflected in the masses of aboriginal antiquities which
for the most part lie unattended 'in forgotten corners of our old and well
established museums. During the late 19th and early 20th centuries
a large number of persons, some individuals and some organized groups,
became keenly interested in recovering the native artifacts which with
little effort could be abundantly gathered from large, then basically
undisturbed sites. As recently demonstrated Maritime artifacts collected
during these early periods occasionally found themselves spread far and
wide depending on the varying personal affiliations of the excavators
(Turnbull 1979 a).

The most active and organized group of collectors in New
Brunswick was formed in 1862. Centered in St. John the group was
predominately composed of professional men whose occupations allowed
them the time and money to follow such pursuits. Interested members of
the Natural History Society of New Brunswick planned excursions for digging
and compiled fairly accurate notes on what had been done and where.
Reports of Society activities were often printed in the Bulletin of the
Natural History Society of New Brunswick. Large scale excavations at two
sites, the Keyhole on Grand Lake and a shell midden at Bocabec, New
Brunswick were well reported and described. One member of the Society,
the historian Dr. William F. Ganong, did extensive research into locating

and recording New Brunswick historical sites. In 1899 he published






survey programs were initjated. Under a threat of destruction historic

Fort LaTour and its underlaying prehistoric components were excavated

by Russel Harper of the New Brunswick Museum (1956). Hasty surveys were
conducted in the mid-upper St. John River valley in an effort to find sites

in advance of flooding by the developing Mactaquac hydro-electric dam project.
Salvage excavations were undertaken in an effort to locate historic Fort
Meductic (Caywood 1969) and during this same time period Dr. George MacDonald
excavated an early Paleo-Indian campsite near Debert, Nova Scotia (MacDonald
1968).

Following this sudden flurry of activity the National Museum
of Man sponsored general surveys in New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island
(Pearson 1966) and in 1967 an intensive survey and excavation program was
initiated in Passamaquoddy Bay area (Sanger 1971 b) in cooperation with
the provincial government. As the Atlantic Provinces Archaeologist David
Sanger also conducted survey work on the Tobique River system in northwestern
New Brunswick. This survey resulted in the excavation of the Deadman's
Pool Site. During the next few years a number of other survey projects
were undertaken in both riverine and coastal areas of New Brunswick and
Nova Scotia (Martijn 1968, Buxton-Keenlyside 1970, Lavoie 1971, Turnbull
1971, Preston 1974 a, b, Allen 1975, Burley 1976, Nash 1977, Allen and
Turnbull 1977, Emin 1978).

In New Brunswick more salvage excavations were also conducted
although with few exceptions the sites investigated proved to be heavily
disturbed. In 1970 David Sanger excavated a large basically undisturbed
Archaic cemetery at Cow Point (1973). 1In 1972 David Burley excavated

a small disturbed campsite at the mouth of the Bartibog River (1974).
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that deer were relative newcomers to the province, appearing sometime in
the 19th century. This assumption is presently being questioned. The
Passamaquoddy Bay prehistoric sites have yeilded deer remains (Emin
1979:45) and Squires cites early historical reports which mention deer
in the northern part of New Brun§wick.

The woodland caribou (Rangifer tarandus), a nonmigratory species,

once ranged throughout New Brunswick in substantial numbers. The caribou
were often found in "small groups of ten to fifteen individuals which
during the winter inhabit upland evergreen forests'" (Burley 1974:7).
In spring and summer the caribou were found on a wider range, feeding
on mosses, lichens, grasses etc.

"By 1927 they were no longer sighted in the province.

Pemains of this mammal appear in the Passamaquoddy

Bay shellheaps; Hoffman has them cited in his Micmac

annual subsistence patterns; and game warden

accounts up to 1914 reported them as being plentiful"

(Emin 1979 : 46).

The beaver (Castor canadensis) is a mainly acquatic animal

inhabiting the woodland waterways of New Brunswick. As with a number
of other over exploited species, the beaver was nearly exterminated
during the early 19th century (Squires 1968:17).

The common black bear (Euarctos americanus) has historically

been and presently continues to be very common in New Brunswick's
thickly wooded areas. The bear hibernates in a natural shelter during
the winter months and spends the remainder of the year feeding on wild

fruits, fish and small animals.
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Birds

The forested area of New Brunswick displays innumerable lakes,
ponds, marshes, streams, and rivers. The coast of the province provides
over 1500 kms of exposed beaches, river estuaries, sheltered bays and
marshlands. With such varied natural environs New Brunswick offers
excellent feeding grounds for both a resident bird population as well as
for migratory species (Squires 1952:7). Only those species which appear
to offer a significant contribution towards a subsistence economy will
be discussed. For a more complete list of both migratory and resident
bird species in New Prunswick Squires may be consulted (1952).

The interior forested regions of New Brunswick support two

resident game bird populations. These are the Canada spruce grouse

(Canachites canadensis canace) and the Canada ruffed grouse (Bonasa

umbellus togata). American woodcock (Philohela minor) is a common

summer resident and transient of the forested areas (Squires 1952:56).
Presently closed hunting seasons have been established due to the
scarcity of the above species (Emin 1979:16).

According to Squires (1956) the most common transient game tirds
which utilize sheltered New Brunswick marine areas and marshlands for

spring and fall feeding are the common Canada goose (Branta canadensis

canadensis) and the American brant (Branta bernicla hrota). Common

transients and summer residents of these same areas are the black duck

(Anas rubripes), green winged teal (Anas carolinensis), blue winged

teal (Anas discors) and ring-necked duck (Aythva collaris). Other common

transients and sometime winter residents are the American golden-eye
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shores of the inner bay during the spring of the year (Philpott 1978:183).

Mackerel (Scomber scombrus) occasionally makes its way into the inner

bay areas during the summer months (Philpott 1978:184).
The inner bay portion of the estuary also supports, although not
abundantly, the softshell clam (Mya arenaria), the quahaug (Mercenaria

’

mercenaria), the bar clam (Spisula colidissima), the mussel (Mytillis

edulis), the oyster (Crassostrea virginea) and the lobster (Homarus

americanus) (Philpott 1978:186-192). The scallop (Crassostrea virginea)

is also available in the deeper waters of Miramichi Bay (Philpott 1978:192).
In the rivers of the Miramichi district a number of anadromous

fish species are particularly abundant during spawning "runs" in the

spring and early summer. Most noteworthy of these species are smelt,

shad, striped bass, trout, gaspereau and the Atlantic salmon. Sturgeon

was at one time also noted to have runs in the major branches of the

Miramichi.
The major fish runs on the Miramichi begin sometime during

the latter part of April or early May. The smelt (Asmerus sperlanus

mordax) is the first to move up the rivers, often during the height of the

spring freshet. This species is closely followed by shad (Alosa sapidissima),

striped bass (Roccus saxatilis) and gaspereau (Alosa pseudoharengus). The

"early run'" of the Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) occurs in late May and

June. An additional "late run'" frequently occurs during September/
October and spawning takes place in the rivers during late fall (Leim and
Scott 1966:111). Historically the salmon has proved to be of substantial

economic importance to the Miramichi River district.
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Other species of relative abundance in both the estuary
and the rivers are the American eel (Anguilla rostrata), the tomcod
(Microgadus tomcod) and the speckled trout (Salvelinus fontinalis).

The eel is present in quiet or backwater river areas during summer and
does not range far from the estuary shore during winter. The tomcod
frequents the estuary during summer and travels up the rivers to spawn
under the ice during winter (Philpott 1978:179). The speckled trout,

a species whose whereabouts at any specific time is controlled by water
temperatures, frequently ascends the rivers during the fall when spawning
takes place (Leim and Scott 1968:116).

Apart from the anadromous fish New Brunswick supports about 25
species of strictly freshwater fish. Although none of these would compare
favorably with the species mentioned above, they do present a minor
subsistence potential. Frechwater species most commonly available
in the Miramichi district at present are the white sucker, the creek

chub, the lake chub and the brook trout.

Reptiles
Three varieties of turtle presently inhabit northeastern New

Brunswick. These are the wood turtle (Clemmys insculpta), snapping

turtle (Chelydra serpentina) and the painted turtle (Chrysemys picta).

The wood turtle is terrestrial while the others are aquatic (Squires 1970:
13-15). A range of smaller reptiles such as snakes, frogs and salamanders
are also available. The four most common frogs found in most areas of New

Brunswick are the bull frog (Rana catesbieana), green frog (Rana clamitans),
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CHAPTER III

THE OXBOW SITE

During the 1975-77 surveys in the Red Bank/Sunny Corner area,
Mr. Joseph Augustine reported a site location on the Little Southwest
Miramichi River. The site was the Oxbow. 1In 1977 testing found the site
basically undisturbed and culturally stratified to a depth of over two
meters. The Oxbow seemed to offer an opportunity to suggest a 2-3000
year chronological sequence for artifact types as well as an opportunity
to collect data concerning the settlement and subsistence aspects of the
lives of the prehistoric populations of the Miramichi River. 1In
short, the site offered a chance to explore a number of culture history
questions which although always present, were aroused by the discovery
of the Augustine Mound.

The Oxbow site is situated on a low terrace which forms the
inside curve on the first bend in the Little Southwest Miramichi River
just above the community of Red Bank (Figures 1, 2). The site area is
locally referred to as the '"Oxbow' and according to the Borden system
of site designation for Canada, the area is archaeologically identified
as CfD1-1. The site property is owned by the Red Bank Indian Band,
Northumberland County, New Brunswick.

Upon occasions of extremely high water the entire low terrace
upon which the site is located becomes a river flood plain. During
periods of average water level, the more westerly portions of the lower
berd of the river provide an excellent salmon pool. A lesser depth of

the same pool extends downriver for a distance of several hundred metres.
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Upstream from the bend the water level is shallower and considerably
more rapid (Figure 2). Presently the head of tide on the Little Southwest
Miramichi is located near the lower bend at Oxbow.

Areas of the site adjacent to the river are at present covered by
a thick tangle of alder and hawthorn bushes (Figure 4). Approximately
30 metres to the interior young poplar trees dominate while the odd spruce
or pine tree also stands. The eastern sections of the site are covered
with wild hay and clumps of low lying hawthorn bushes. To the west an
overgrown woods road connects the lower terrace with higher ground to the
north. This high terrace to the north of the site is currently being
mined for gravel.

The Oxbow site area was farmed during the late 18th, 19th and
20th centuries (Hamilton 1979). Surface features on the eastern
portions of the site include slight furrows caused by plowing. A shallow
cart track which has fallen into disuse is also present. Heavy equipment
has recently disturbed surface areas on the western portions of the site.
On the northeast the site is bounded by a narrow strip of river backwater

locally referred to as a "bogan'" (Figure 3).

Archaeological approach

In the summer of 1975 some shallow testing was accomplished
on the Oxbow site at the locations shown in Figure 3. The results of
these efforts were not encouraging. In 1977 after a more in-depth
archaeological reconnaissance of the area had been conducted, it was
discovered that the 1975 test units had been situated in a location that

had been disturbed (Figure 3). Further testing was decided upon.
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Although not all cultural debris was horizontally plotted
within each 20 cm level of the test units, materials recovered for each
level were kept separate. All stone tools and ceramic fragments were
accurately recorded. Features from the test units were sketched and their
associated cultural remains were'distinguished from other more general
finds such as singular fire cracked rocks or lithic debris. The most
productive areas tested displayed a concentration of echipping debris,
pottery and features within the first meter and then produced scattered
finds to depths of up to 220 cms.

Test units on the far eastern and northern sections of the site
did not produce the depth or abundance of cultural material that was
evident in the western and more central units. One unit which proved
to have no cultural materials in association was located only a few
meters north of the river bank at the western end of the site. In this
unit thick upper layers of light sand were steeply inclined towards the
river indicating a rather recent formation of this portion of the bank
edge. At the western end of the site, another unit indicates a similar
building out of the terrace towards the river. 1In this latter umnit,
however, the thick sterile layers of sediment occur near the base of the
excavation and are overlain by more than a meter of alluvial/cultural
deposits (Figure 5).

According to the information gathered by the excavation of the
nine text units, the site was found to extend in an East-West direction
for a distance of at least 200 meters and had a varying 40 to 80 meter
width. The depths of the cultural deposits vary from less than 50 cms in

the far easterly and northerly areas, to depths of approximately 130 cms
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on the far western end and to maximum depths of over 220 cms in the east
central portions of the site.

Testing also revealed that the layering of the sand/silt deposits
throughout the site was by no means uniform. Based on this knowledge and
on the experience that horizontal following of the different natural levels
was extremely difficult, it was decided that any larger excavation units
should be excavated in more manageable 10 cm arbitrary levels and that the
varying stratigraphy should be accurately recorded for each major unit.

Three areas were chosen in which to concentrate the remaining
1978 field time. Unit 78-10, a six by seven meter rectangular unit was
located near the east end of the site (Figure 9), where according to
test unit one, cultural deposits appeared concentrated within one meter
of the surface although scattered finds had been recovered to a depth of
approximately 140 cms. Unit 78-11 was placed on the western end of the site
near test unit 78-4 which had yielded a large number of post moulds (Figure
6, 42) and distincitve hearth areas. Unit 78-11 was a five meter square
(Figure 11) which produced an abundance of cultural materials within the
upper meter with scattered finds occurring to 130 cms. Unit 78A was a one
and a half by eight meter trench unit, placed along a North-South line in
the east central site area. This location produced cultural materials
to a depth of 220 cms, the level at which the water was encountered (Figure
7). Another five meter square unit, 78-12, was placed just north of 78A
and expectations are that this unit also will produce cultural deposits

to depths of over two meters.
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CHAPTER IV
EXAMINING THE EVIDENCE

This chapter involves a detailed technical analysis of the
cultural remains which were recoyered and/or recorded during the 1977-78
test and preliminary excavations at the Oxbow site. As was implied
in the preceding chapter, soil conditions at Oxbow did not allow for
the preservation of bone, wood, antler or other organic materials. Only
when such substances were reduced to a carbonized state in a hearth or
fire pit, could they then possibly be identified. The bulk of cultural
materials recovered from Oxbow are therefore either lithic or ceramic.

The few historic materials collected were treated on an equal basis with
the prehistoric artifacts.

The lithic artifacts have been separated into categories according
to form and probable function. Further, "diagnostic" artifacts of this
nature have been sub-divided into "types" of tools which display particular
clusterings of attributes. These attributes are defined and thus also
is defined the specific sub-class or "type'" within the artifact category.
All other non-diagnostic lithic artifacts are described within their broader
categories and according to their individual attribute combinations.

Over ninety percent of all lithic artifacts, and ninety-nine
percent of all chipped lithic artifacts recovered from Oxbow were
manufactured from cobble quartz. Due to the blocky hetrogenous cleavage
of most quartz, difficulties in achieving controlled conchoidal flaking
during tool manufacturing were quite evident. Within the chipped tool

industry the remaining materials were mostly identified as rhyolite.
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Sandstone, quartzite and granite cobbles composed most of the non-quartz
materials from which the ground, pecked and ground, and chipped artifacts
were manufactured. Geologist Dr. A. L. McAllister warns that his
identification of the lithic materials from the Oxbow site was done
visually without the aid of thiq sections or other laboratory procedures.

A detailed presentation of the Oxbow ceramic assemblage is
provided on the basis of vessel identification. Each ceramic vessel
is individually described according to rim form and decoration while
the ceramic assemblage as a whole is analysed according to a number
of other pertinent attributes.

This chapter also includes other aspects of the cultural presence
herein defined as ''features'. Features themselves are visually recorded
non-material cultural evidence which may or may not possess artifactual
attributes. An assessment of the characteristics or attributes which a
feature displays, can often lead to suggestions concerning the purpose

or use to which certain forms of features pertain.

Historical artifacts

Artifacts from the historic period were found within the plow
zone throughout most of the tested site areas. Although only two areas
of debris concentration were located, the eastern and central sections
of the site appear to have received heavier utilization during historic
times. Table 1 demonstrates the distribution of historic materials as

they occurred in the test and larger excavation units.



Types and distribution of historic materials

Table 1:

sTe30],

V youail

¢1-8L

TIT1-8L

0T-8L

6-8L

S-8¢L

7-8L

£-8.

excavation units

clay pipe - bowl

- stem

lead shot

gunflint

buttons - porcelain

- metal

32

beads

37

19

glass - bottle

~ window

52

ceramics - earthenware

- Creamware

- pearlware

metal - iron debris

- oxen shoes

12

- nails

- barrel hoop

- copper fragments

10 32

33

TOTALS

TOTAL NUMBER 140
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Clay pipe fragments

There were a total of ten clay pipe fragments found. Four
small undecorated stem fragments, two undecorated bowl fragments and four
decorated bowl fragments were recovered. All fragments were too small

to be indicative of any specific period.

Lead shot
Eight small pieces of lead shot, each 2-3 mms in diameter
were recovered from the hearth area of Feature 10. One very small

fragment of lead slag was also recovered from this same area.

Gunflint (Figure 30 a)
One small grey gunflint was recovered. It measures 15 mms

square by 5 mms thick. The specimen was well battered on all edges.

Bead (Figure 30 f)

One glass tube bead was recovered from the area of Feature 10.
The specimen is 3.5 mms in length by 2.5 mms in diameter. The bead has
a dark red exterior and a green interior ring. A similar bead from the
CfDk-4 Wilson site has been identified as having a date range of 1750 to

1830 (Karlis Karklins, Parks Canada, personal communication).

Buttons (Figure 30 c-e)
Two whole metal buttons and one fragmentary procelain button
were recovered. The ceramic specimen, (Figure 30 e), would have been 10

mms in diameter and was a four holed variety. The first metal specimen,
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(Figure 30 c), is of silver coated copper alloy manufacture with an off-
centered eyelet attachment on the back. The specimen is 11.5 mms in
diameter. The second metal specimen, (Figure 30 d), was manufactured

from a white metal, has a broken eyelet centered on the back and has a
diameter of 17.5 mms. According to South's typology, both metal specimens

belong to the period between 1726 and 1776 (South, 1964).

Glass

Fragments of two 19th century bottles were recovered (Vienneau
1969). The first, represented by 17 fragments, is a molded light green
liquor flask. The fragments of this specimen were found around the
support stones of Feature 1. The second bottle is represented by some
15 fragments and was recovered from within the plow zone over the entire
area of excavation unit 78-10. A single black wine bottle appears to
have provided all 15 pieces.

Other glass fragments include a few sherds of clear window shatter

and three pieces of brown bottle glass.

Ceramics (Figure 30 g-1)

The ceramic fragments recovered from CfDl1-1 are for the most
part very small sherds that, having probably originally been placed in
some compost heap, were eventually deposited on the land during
agricultural fertilization. Except for a few fragments of pearlware and
creamware which may relate to the late 18th and early 19th century, the
majority of fragments seem to be from the middle of late 19th and
early 20th century (Noel Hume 1969). Table 2 gives a detailed descriptive

summary of the CfDbl-1 ceramics.
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Only two copper artifacts were recovered. The first is
definitely a historic item. It is a small fragment of folded sheet
copper. The second, although found néar Feature 2 and within 30 cms
of the surface could possibly be attributed to the prehistoric period.
The specimen, a small pointed object, is 43 mms long, approximately two
mms thick and tapers from eight to three mms in width. One lateral edge
of the specimen is flattened while the opposing edge is rounded (Figure
30 b). This artifact may be a prehistoric awl or only a fragment of

some historic item.

Lithic artifacts

Projectile points

This select category of stemmed and a few non~stemmed bifaces
has been separated from the broader biface grouping by their suggested
functional role. All specimens or portions thereof which are included
in this grouping display attributes which suggest hafting as a prerequisite
to utilization as a piercing implement. Only one specimen, from which
tip and medial portions are missing may functionally belong in a
classification for large stemmed bifacially chipped knives. Due to
their rather limited size range the remainder of the specimens would
appear to have been arrow tips.

In total fifteen complete specimens and fifteen fragmentary
specimens with some diagnostic attributes were recovered. From the total
several sub-groups or types have been defined according to specific

combination of attributes. All specimens in the projectile point category
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Table 3, Type A linear attributes (measurements in mms).

measurement range mean
length 32.0 - 51.0 42 .4
width 20.0 - 28.5 22.9
thickness 6.0 - 13.5 8.4
maximum base width 7.0 - 11.5 9.2
neck width ' 11.0 - 16.5 13.4

Type B (Figure 14 j-p)

Seven small expanding stemmed projectile points were recovered
during the Oxbow excavations. With one exception all specimens in type
B have been manufactured from quartz. The exception is made from a grey
chert (Figure 14 n).

The distinguishing attributes for type B specimens include an
expanding stem form, either paired or asymmetric wide angled or wide
rounded shoulders, basal thinning, a biconvex cross section and a
straight base. 1In four of the five intact specimens blade edges were
convex. Only one specimen did not totally comply with all the above mentioned
attributes. This specimen had a slight basal concavity of 1.5 mms
(Figure 14 k). This deviation could have been a natural result of basal
thinning. Where tips and blade edges were present in type B points,
three of the intact specimens had pointed tips and sharp edges while the
remaining two had slightly blunted tips with sharp to dull blade edges.
The range and mean of certain measurements for this type of point is

presented in Table 4.
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mms. The base form is rather bluntly convex and the shoulder form is

wide rounded. Some slight attempts have been made towards basal thinning.

Scrapers

Fifty-eight tools of a complete or nearly complete form and
exhibiting steep edge retouch were recovered. These tools are more commonly
known as scrapers. Only four of the specimens from this total were
produced from materials other than quartz. One specimen was manufactured
from a bay colored flint, another form a mottled pink and beige flint,
another from a smoky grey quartzite and the fourth from a mottled red
and black rhyolite. Of the quartz specimens 537 displayed a portion of
cobble cortex. A detailed attribute description of all individual
specimens in this category can be found in Appendix B. Scraper terminology
as well as angular and linear measurements are visually explained in
Figure 16. Working edge angles on scrapers and bifaces were measured by
use of an open angled reel edge calibrated to 10° differences.

The following categories of scraping tools have been loosely
defined according to which edge areas exhibit steep edge retouch for the
purpose of tool application, according to tool form, manufacturing

techniques and form of working edge.

Distal edge scrapers

Of the total specimens recovered 28 exhibited continuous steep
edge retouch along only one edge, that which would be opposed to the
hand of the user. Eight of the total were approximately rectangular

forms. The worked edge on four of these specimens was moderately convex,
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three were only slightly convex, while another displayed a straight
working edge. All but one specimen received some type of chipping on
the dorsal surface of the tool but only four of the specimens had any
modification to their ventral surfaces. Seven of the eight rectangular
specimens were thick cortex flak?s and in three of these cases the flake
striking platform was opposed to the steep edge retouch.

Sixteen triangular or sub-triangular specimens were also placed
in the distal edge scraper category (Figure 17 a-c). In all triangular
specimens the width of the distally located steep edge retouch contracts
towards a blunted proximal end. A rather thick cortex flake appears to
have been favored in the production of this tool category. Eleven of the
specimens displayed either a complete cortex dorsal surface or at least
some portion of cobble cortex remaining. Ten of the triangular end scrapers
presented a moderately convex blade edge while the remainder of the group
had only slightly convex to straight areas of steep edge retouch. One
third of all triangular end scrapers had neither dorsal nor ventral surfaces
retouched. The remainder displayed either dorsal or ventral retouch or
a combination of both. In 557 of the triangular forms the striking
platforms had been removed, in 337 it was located along a longitudinal edge
and in 137 it was available on the proximal end. A range and mean summary
of linear and angular measurements for triangular and rectangular distal

end scrapers can be examined in the following table.















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































SUGGESTED CHRONOLOGY

CfDI-1 OXBOW SITE
PROJECTILE POINT

1000 AD SEQUENCE
, % RADIOCARBON DATED SPECIMENS
) BP
"'.1675'350
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500 AD 298080

BP
19952 50
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CfDI-1 OXBOW SITE

CERAMIC

SEQUENCE UNITS

78A & 78-12

RIMS ONLY

LEVELS

5.6
78
89
9
12
19
20

tools

cord wrapped
stick

dentate

. ]
alternately dentate &

notched

alternately notched

punctations

56
7.8
89

12
19
20
21

application

simple

rocker

rocker & simple

dragged & simple

incised 8 simple

5,6
78
89

12
19
20
21

motifs

verticals

horizontals

horizontals /
verticals

verticals /
horizontals

verticals /
obliques

horizontals /
obliques

r ]
obliques /

horizontals

() e—————— ]OOO/O












No. Vessels

Levels

OXBOW SITE CERAMIC SEQUENCE UNITS 78-11 & 78-4

0 100

O/o

W w O W -

7.8
8.9

TOOLS

dentate alternately notched

punctations

W WO LW -

7.8

8.9

10

APPLICATION

simple rocker simple & rocker

dragged

W W Nw o
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89

10

MOTIFS
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LEVELS

<| o CfDI-1 OXBOW SITE  SUGGESTED CERAMIC SEQUENCE
0
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lip surface tools
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